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INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Jeffrey Elkins challenges a local rule of the Contra Costa
County Superior Court, and a trial scheduling order filed in his case, which
provide for presentation of direct testimony by declaration subject to cross-
examination in family law hearings and trials. Petitioner contends these
provisions contravene statutes regarding credibility and the order of proof
and denied him the due process right to be heard. As Petitioner never
objected to these provisions below—on statutory, constitutional, or other
grounds—but instead acquiesced in and even embraced them, and never
requested live direct testimony, he has waived these challenges here.

Should this Court nonetheless reach the merits of Petitioner’s claims,
it should find that the direct-by-declaration procedure does not run afoul of
statutory or decisional law nor does it deprive litigants of the constitutional
guarantees of due process and a fair hearing. The rule and order do not
change the statutory order of proof nor impermissibly curtail opportunities
for assessment of credibility, as both provide that a declaration in lieu of
direct testimony is subject to cross-examination and as neither prohibits
oral redirect or rebuttal. Due process protects the right to produce
evidence; under our statutes, sworn declarations are the evidentiary
equivalent of oral examination. The procedure has been upheld by at least

one federal court against an identical due process challenge, and has been



approved for family law motion hearings and trials in California appellate
decisions.

Petitioner also challenges the trial scheduling order in this case on
the grounds that it constituted a “private judge rule” required to be
published in the local rules, whereas here it was filed as an order and served
on Petitioner and Real Party in Interest Marilyn Elkins. Petitioner also
contends this order was unconstitutional as applied to him because it
deprived him of the ability to present his case. Again, by failing to
challenge the order below on any grounds, petitioner has waived these
challenges here.

Should this Court nonetheless reach the merits of Petitioner’s claims,
it should find that the order filed in this case does not constitute the kind of
general judge rule that must be published. Moreover, if it were held to
constitute such a rule, its lack of publication was not prejudicial to
Petitioner as he had full notice of its terms. Because the court relieved
Petitioner of the order’s requirements that pretrial declarations must attach
and give the evidentiary foundation for exhibits to be offered at trial,
Petitioner lacks standing to challenge these requirements. These same
circumstances render any errors in the TSO harmless as to Petitioner.
Although given the opportunity to do so at trial, Petitioner failed to lay the
proper foundations for his exhibits against Real Party’s objections.

Accordingly, the exhibits were properly excluded. The record establishes



that in all other ways, the court below gave Petitioner every opportunity to
present his case, but Petitioner failed or refused to do so.

Therefore, the writ should be denied and the judgment in this matter
should be affirmed.

RETURN BY ANSWER TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDATE

The verification by Petitioner Jeffrey Elkins (hereafter Jeffrey)
appears to declare true, under penalty of perjury, only that part of the
petition preceding his verification, which appears at petition pp. 1-6.
Numerous references to procedural and other additional facts, however, are
asserted throughout Jeffrey’s memorandum of points and authorities, but
are not verified, in contravention of California Rules of Court, Rule
56(b)(4). Further, Jeffrey’s failure to place any substantive facts within the
petition portion of his filing makes it difficult to ascertain exactly what
allegations Real Party in Interest Marilyn Elkins (hereafter Marilyn) should
be answering. Out of caution, Marilyn has attempted to identify and
respond to factual allegations made by Jeffrey not only in his petition but
also in his memorandum of points and authorities.

1. For lack of information (which Marilyn submits Jeffrey also
lacks), Marilyn neither admits nor denies the allegation (petition p. 2) that
by local practice, individual judges promulgate their own pretrial orders or

that such orders may be even more onerous than the local rules.



2. Marilyn admits Jeffrey’s allegations (petition p. 2) that the
Trial Scheduling Order served on the parties and filed April 22, 2005
required the parties to attach all of the exhibits they intended to proffer at
trial to pretrial declarations; completely set forth in their declarations the
evidentiary foundation for these exhibits; and exchange binders containing
these exhibits prior to trial. Marilyn also admits that Jeffrey was in pro per
at trial, that he provided a binder of trial exhibits to Marilyn’s attorney (but
not in a timely manner), and that he failed to identify each exhibit in the
binder in his declaration or to state the evidentiary foundation for any
exhibit. Marilyn lacks sufficient information to admit or deny the
allegation that Jeffrey provided the binder of exhibits to the trial court.

3. Marilyn denies Jeffrey’s allegation (petition p. 2) that the trial
court sustained an objection to 34 of his exhibits based on the failure to
comply with the trial setting order, and denies the allegation that Jeffrey
rested because he was denied the ability to present any sort of case. In fact,
when Jeffrey could not establish that he had set forth the evidentiary
foundations for his proffered exhibits in his declaration, the court explained
to Jeffrey the kind of foundation that he was required to establish and
invited Jeffrey to rethink his position after the break and to come back and
give the court, at trial, the necessary foundational information. (RT 6:11-
10:22.) Jeftrey declined to take this opportunity, failed to lay any

foundation for any of his exhibits, and instead rested his case, rescinded his



requests for cross-examination, and withdrew even his declaration from
evidence. (RT 14:11-16:19.) Marilyn also denies Jeffrey’s allegation on
the same page that Local Rule 12.5 or the trial scheduling order conflicts
with statutory or decisional law and further denies that either resulted in
this case in a denial of due process.

4. Marilyn denies Jeffrey’s allegation (petition p. 3) that he is
the Petitioner in the action for dissolution. Marilyn is the Petitioner below,
and Jeffery is the Respondent below.

5. Marilyn denies Jeffrey’s allegation (petition p. 3) that, with
the exception of the transcript of September 19, 2005, all exhibits
accmﬁpanying Jeffrey’s petition are true copies of original documents on
file with respondent court. The documents that Jeffrey calls “Respondent’s
Trial Exhibits,” which are found at AA Tab 11 and comprise almost the
entirety of Volume 2 of Jeffrey’s Appendix, were not trial exhibits entered
into evidence below for the reasons set forth in paragraph 3 of this Answer
and were never, so far as Marilyn is aware, filed with the respondent court.
Further, Jeftrey has not alleged, by verification or otherwise, that the
documents found at Tab 11 are true copies of the binder of exhibits he
delivered to respondent court and to Marilyn’s counsel on the Friday before
the Monday trial.

6. Marilyn denies Jeffrey’s allegation (petition p. 4) that the trial

judge indicated on the record that the April 2005 order is his standard rule.



In the referenced part of the trial transcript, the judge did not state that this
is his standard rule but rather that the earlier trial on date of separation was
conducted pursuant an identical order.

7. Turning to Jeffrey’s unverified allegations, Marilyn admits
that the parties were married on April 20, 1980, separated on July 27, 2001,
and that they have a child born in 1991.

8. Marilyn denies that the quotation from the September 19,
2005 hearing that Jeffrey attributes to the court (petition pp. 11-12) was
made by the court. Jeffrey notes in a footnote that this statement “may”
have been from Marilyn’s counsel. In fact, it was from Marilyn’s counsel,
as the transcript itself reveals. Thus the quoted statement refers to Jeffrey
not serving his binder of exhibits “on my office” until Friday and, in
response to the quoted statement, the court states “All right. So that’s on
your agenda,” referring to counsel’s statement. (RT 3:12-19.)

9. Marilyn lacks information to admit or deny Jeffrey’s apparent
allegation (petition p. 12) that he had marked the documents in his trial
exhibits binder, but notes that the documents appearing at AA Tab 11 to his
petition have handwritten numbers (beginning at 100) at the bottom but are
not otherwise marked as exhibits.

10.  Marilyn denies Jeffrey’s apparent allegation (petition p. 17)
that he gave up and rested because the court essentially excluded all of his

exhibits. The transcript reveals that Jeffrey rested his case after



squandering an opportunity given to him by the court to use an upcoming
break to reconsider his argument and to provide the evidentiary foundation
for his exhibits. (RT 14:11-16:19.) Marilyn also denies that Petitioner
withdrew his request to cross-examine the forensic expert because he was
denied the use of evidence for the cross-examination. Jeffrey has confused
the admission of a document as independent evidence with its use in cross-
examination.

11.  Marilyn denies and objects to Jeffrey’s apparent allegation
(petition p. 18) that the court ordered Jeffrey to pay $15,000 toward her
attorney’s fees “despite the fact that Jeffrey was not employed and Marilyn
was getting virtually 100% of the liquid assets.” Nothing in the record
establishes that Jeffrey’s employment status was before the court. See AA
Tab at s 2 and 3 (parties stipulated to a mutual waiver of spousal support
and that the court would reserve jurisdiction over—rather than award—
child support). And the record refutes the allegation that Marilyn received
most of the assets. See AA Tab 3 at9s 4, 5, 7, 8, 9 (all significant assets
divided equally between the parties, with Jeffrey receiving, in addition,
$60,000 from the community’s interest in CalTech International Telecom
as compensation for post-separation efforts); AA Tab 3, 48 and Tab 4, 12
(because Jeffrey had already received almost $1 million from a joint Merrill
Lynch account, while Marilyn had received only $483,255, Jeffrey ordered

to equalize the division by paying her $249,235). Marilyn’s request for



attorney’s fees was based on Jeffrey’s litigation conduct that increased
Marilyn’s litigation costs (AA Tab 8) and, for all the record discloses, the
fees were awarded on this basis.

12.  Marilyn alleges the following additional facts:

a. Jeffrey represented himself in the dissolution action out of
choice and not because he could not afford an attorney. Before the court
issued a restraining order in 2003 preventing Jeffrey from writing checks
out of the parties” Merrill Lynch account, Jeffrey had received $786,726
from this account. (Marilyn had received $433,255, and $525,199 had been
withdrawn from the account to pay business attorneys.) (AA Tab 4,
Marilyn’s declaration §98-9.) Pursuant to a July 2003 stipulation and order,
Jeffrey received an additional $145,000 from this account, while Marilyn
received nothing. (/d. at §10.) In May 2004, each party received $50,000
from this account. (/d. at{11.) Thus by May 2004, Jeffrey had received a
total of $981,726 from this community account.

b. Then, in response to Jeffrey’s request for additional funds to
pay an attorney retainer, on October 26, 2004, the court permitted Jeffrey to
withdraw a further $5,000 from the Merrill Lynch account and that “an
additional $5,000 can be paid directly to an attorney retained by [Jeffrey].”
The October 2004 order is included in the Real Party in Interest’s

Appendix, hereafter RA, being submitted herewith, as Exhibit A. Unless



otherwise noted, all RA exhibits are true and correct copies of original
documents on file with respondent court.

C. Although the court repeatedly recommended that Jeffrey
obtain legal representation (see RT 20:7-10), and although he had ample
resources, Jeffrey did not retain an attorney until these writ proceedings.

d. The issue of the date of separation was bifurcated and tried
separately on February 10, 2005 before the Honorable Barry Baskin. In
connection with this trial, on January 20, 2005, the court filed and served
both parties with a trial scheduling order along with a notice advising the
parties that they were required to comply with it. The January 2005 notice
and order are included in the RA as Exhibit B. This trial scheduling order
contains the same provisions as the trial scheduling order filed and served
on April 22, 2005 (AA Tab 2) for the September 2005 trial regarding direct
examination by declaration subject to cross-examination; attaching trial
exhibits to declarations to be filed 10 and 5 court days before trial;
explaining and providing evidentiary foundations for exhibits in such
declarations; and serving binders of trial exhibits on the court and opposing
party 2 court days before trial.

€. Jeffrey complied with the January 20 trial scheduling order.
On January 27, 2005, 10 court days before the February 10 trial, Jeffrey
served Marilyn with a trial brief to which he attached four exhibits,

including a declaration of his mother, Mildred Balin. Jeffrey’s trial brief is



included in the RA as Exhibit C. The attached exhibits were explained in
the trial brief.

f. On February 3, 2005, 5 court days before trial, Jeffrey served
Marilyn with a responsive trial brief to which he attached 9 exhibits,
including his own 8-page declaration and a second declaration from his
mother. Jeffrey’s responsive trial brief is included in the RA as Exhibit D.
Again, each of the exhibits was referenced in the trial brief.

g. In response, Marilyn served Jeffrey with a notice to produce
Mildred Balin for cross-examination at trial. In his ex parte motion to
quash this notice, Jeffrey affirmatively relied on the provisions of Local
Rule 12.5, stating: “Local Rule 12.4(b)(3) [sic] of this Court states ‘. . .all
declarations shall be considered received in evidence at the hearing.” and
that ‘The Court may decide contested issues on the basis of the pleadings
submitted by the parties without live testimony.” [§] Mildred Balin
submitted two declarations. . . The witness is the mother of Respondent
JEFFREY ELKINS and was providing direct testimony regarding the
marital relationship of JEFFREY AND MARILY ELKINS. Under

California Evidence Code Sections 1310, 1311 and 1324, since Mildred

Balin is testifying about her own family none of her statements are
inadmissible by the hearsay rule. Therefore the Declaration of Mildred
Balin should remain in evidence though she will be unavailable to attend in

person February 10, 2005.” Motion to Quash, which is included in the RA
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as Exhibit E, at p. 3 (emphasis in original). Ultimately, Marilyn’s counsel
agreed that Mrs. Balin could appear for cross-examination at the trial by
telephone.

h. Jeffrey also complied with the January 20, 2005 trial
scheduling order by preparing and timely providing to Marilyn’s counsel
his binder containing the exhibits he planned to use at trial within 2 court
days before the February 10 date-of-separation trial.

i. All the exhibits that Jeffrey had attached to his trial briefs and
included in his trial binder were admitted into evidence without objection in
the February 2005 trial with the exception of a document that Jeffrey
concurred was not relevant to determination of the date of separation.

j. Trial on remaining issues was set for September 19, 2005,
also before the Honorable Barry Baskin. On August 16, 2005, the parties
appeared before Judge Baskin at a brief trial-setting conference. RA
Exhibit F is a copy of the transcript of that conference (Marilyn will lodge
the original with the Court as soon as she obtains it). The court confirmed
the trial date and that the parties were scheduled out second that day. At
the end of the conference, Jeffrey queried the court as to whether discovery
was closed and whether DVD’s and audio-visual equipment would be
available during the trial; the court answered in the affirmative. (RA Ex. F

at 4:25-5:3.) It appears that Jeffrey was already lining up his exhibits for
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trial and wanted to be sure they were no longer discoverable and that they
could be shown to the court on sophisticated equipment.

k. On September 2, 2005, Marilyn filed a 9-page initial
declaration, to which she attached 14 exhibits, all of which she identified in
the declaration, as well as a trial brief. (AA Tabs 4 and 5.) On September
2, 2005, Jeffrey also filed an initial trial brief, to which he attached three
exhibits (AA Tab 9), all of which he identified in the brief, and a short
initial declaration (AA Tab 10). All of these documents were timely filed
under the trial scheduling order 10 court days before trial.

1. On September 8, 2005, Marilyn timely filed a responsive
declaration, attaching 2 additional exhibits which she identified in the
declaration. (AA Tab 6.) Jeffrey did not file a responsive declaration.

m. On Thursday, September 15, two court days before trial,
Marilyn’s counsel provided Jeffrey with her binder of exhibits she intended
to use at trial, all of which had previously been attached to her declarations.
Marilyn’s counsel asked Jeffrey where his binder was, and his only reply
was a smile.

n. Jeftrey did not provide Marilyn with his binder of exhibits
until the afternoon of the next day, just one-half court day before trial. (RT
3,4,12.) Only one of the exhibits contained in the binder had been attached

to his initial declaration. (This document is the August 31, 1998 le&r\\
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Jeffrey attached as exhibit I to his trial brief (AA Tab 9) and also included
in his writ appendix as # 3 of Tab 11.)

13.  Marilyn alleges the following affirmative defenses:

a. The petition fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause
of action for issuance of a writ of mandate.

b. Jeffrey is not entitled to the relief he seeks because he failed
below to raise any of the issues he now raises, thus waiving all claims of
error.

c. The use of declarations, subject to cross-examination, in lieu
of live direct testimony does not violate due process, especially here where
Jeffrey never took advantage of the provisions in the Local Rule and the
trial scheduling order providing for exemption from this procedure in
appropriate cases.

d. The trial scheduling order is not subject to the rule that a
private judge rule must be published, and in any case Jeffrey was served
with a copy of the order and used it, so that no prejudice resulted to Jeffrey
from its lack of publication. As the court relieved Jeffrey of all of the
requirements of the trial scheduling order, and his exhibits were excluded
because Jeffrey failed at trial to lay the necessary foundations, and as the
court did not enter Jeffrey’s default, any improprieties in the issuance of the

order or its terms constitute harmless error and the judgment should be

affirmed.
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Prayer
WHEREFORE, real party in interest Marilyn Elkins prays that:
1. The petition for writ of mandate be denied;
2. That, should any portion of the petition be granted, the ruling

below be affirmed;

3. That petitioner take nothing from this action;
4, That Marilyn recover her costs in this action; and
5. That this Court grant any other relief it deems just and proper.

Respectfully submitted,

FANCHER & WICKLAND
HARKINS & SARGENT

by /?7&« ¢ 1951;? W;q

Paige Leslie\Wickland
Attorneys fo Real Party in Interest Marilyn Elkins
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- VERIFICATION
I, Daniel S. Harkins, declare:

I am an attorney at law duly admitted to practice in the State of California,
and am the attorney for real party in interest Marilyn Elkins, in the case In re
Marriage of Elkins, Case No. D01-05226, Contra Costa Superior Court.

I have read the foregoing Return by Answer To Petition for Writ of
Mandate and know its contents. The matters alleged in the answer are true of my
own knowledge. I make this verification because the facts sets forth therein are
within my personal knowledge and because as real party in interest’s attorney, [
am more familiar with the relevant facts pertaining to the trial court proceedings
than is real party in interest.

[ declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California

that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed this 24 day of e 4 2005, at San Ramon, California.

Daniel S. Harkins
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

L Jeffrey Waived His Statutory and Constitutional Challenges To

Direct Testimony By Declaration By Never Asserting These

Challenges Below and By Never Requesting Live Direct

Testimony

Subparagraph (b)(3) of Contra Costa Local Rule 12.5 provides that
at evidentiary hearings and trials in family law proceedings, all declarations
shall be considered received in evidence, subject to legal objection,
amendment, and cross-examination, and that direct examination is not
permitted except in unusual circumstances or for proper rebuttal.
Paragraph 1 of the trial scheduling order (hereafter, TSO) filed in the
instant matter on April 22, 2005, similarly provides that “[u]nless otherwise
approved in advance by the court, all direct testimony shall be in the form

of declarations filed in lieu of oral direct testimony, subject to cross-

examination.” The gravamen of Jeffrey’s writ petition is that these

' The subparagraph also states that “[t]he Court may decide contested issues
on the basis of the pleadings submitted by the parties without live
testimony.” Given that the Rule expressly makes declarations subject to
cross-examination, in context this provision applies only where the parties
choose not to cross-examine declarants—a frequent circumstance in motion
hearings. By its terms, subparagraph (b) applies not just to trials but also
evidentiary motion hearings. See also subparagraph (b)(7), which provides
that although the parties may stipulate that certain matters may be
submitted on the pleadings, “[s]ubmission of matters on the pleadings
should not be considered if there are issues of witness credibility before the
court.” In any case, it is clear that here the trial court had no intention of
deciding contested issues without any live testimony and did so only
because Marilyn chose not to cross-examine Jeffrey, and Jeffrey,
unprompted, first rescinded his requests for cross-examination and then
withdrew all of his evidence. (RT 4:22-5:9, 13:6-15:3, 14:28-16:19.)

16



provisions requiring direct examination by declaration subject to cross-
examination contravene statutory and constitutional provisions.

But Jeffrey waived his current challenges to the direct-by-
declaration procedure by never asserting any challenge below. It is well
established that points and claims for relief not made in the trial court will
not be considered on appellate review. Dimmick v. Dimmick (1962) 58
Cal.2d 417, 422. Further, constitutional questions not raised below are
considered waived:

It is a well-recognized proposition that ‘[a] person is free to

waive any or all procedures required and designed to

safeguard fundamental rights’ . . . . Such waiver may be

express, i.e., by stipulation of the parties, or implied. . . .In

civil cases, constitutional questions not raised in the trial

court are considered waived.

(In re Marriage of S. (1985) 171 Cal.App.3d 738, 745 (citations omitted);
see also In re Marriage of Fuller (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 1070, 1076;
Hepner v. Franchise Tax Bd. (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 1475, 1485-1486.) In
the instant matter, Jeffrey forfeited the right to raise either a statutory or a
constitutional challenge in this Court by never raising either below and by
conduct that waived his current challenges both passively and actively.

Jeffrey never once objected on any ground to the direct-by-
declaration provision of Local Rule 12.5(b)(3) or of paragraph 1 of the TSO

in either the February 2005 trial or the September 2005 trial. Further,

neither the Local Rule nor the TSO contains a blanket prohibition on live
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direct testimony but rather permits direct oral examination in unusual
circumstances or for rebuttal or, in the case of the TSO, merely on approval
in advance. In the two trial phases in which the parties herein operated
under these provisions, Jeffrey never expressed any interest in offering oral
direct testimony, never objected to this procedure before or at trial, never
requested an exemption from this procedure, and never asserted below that
either Rule 12.5 or the TSO violated due process.

On the contrary, in both trial phases, Jeffrey not only used the direct-
by-declaration procedure without complaint but affirmatively asserted it for
his own benefit. In the February 2005 date-of-separation trial, Jeffrey
timely filed initial declarations of his mother, Mildred Balin, and brother,
Steven Elkins, in lieu of direct testimony, and filed his own responsive
declaration as well as responsive declarations by Mildren Balin and Steven
Elkins. (RA Exs. C and D.) He affirmatively asserted Local Rule 12.5 as
permitting the two Mildred Balin declarations to constitute her direct
testimony despite her inability to appear personally at trial. (RA Ex. E at p.
3.) Inthe September 2005 trial, Jeffrey also filed a declaration and initial
trial brief. It was these pleadings—and not live testimony—that Jeffrey
asserted “gets to the heart of a couple of issues.” (RT 7:8-10.) The record
reflects Jeffrey’s clear expectation that he would rely on his trial brief and

sworn declaration for his own direct examination, as he had in the February
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2005 trial, and that the only live testimony he planned was the cross-
examinations of Marilyn and joint expert Michael Eggers. (RT 4:26-5:6.)
Under principles of estoppel and waiver, Jeffrey cannot now attack
Rule 12.5(b)(3) or the TSO as statutorily invalid or as unconstitutional
when he never objected to the provisions of either regarding direct
examination and never requested live direct testimony though he had ample
opportunities to do so. “The law casts upon the party the duty of looking
after his legal rights and of calling the judge’s attention to any infringement
of them. If any other rule were to obtain, the party would in most cases be
careful to be silent as to his objections until it would be too late to obviate
them, and the result would be that few judgments would stand the test of an
appeal.” (Sommer v. Martin (1921) 55 Cal.App. 603, 610.) Therefore,
even if the Court is inclined to review the issue of direct examination by
declaration, it should deny Jeffrey relief here because of his waiver and

affirm the judgment.

II. A Court Rule or Order Providing That, in the Ordinary Family
Law Case, Direct Examination Will Be By Declaration, Subject
To Cross Examination, Does Not Violate Statutory or
Constitutional Law

Should the Court reach the merits of Jeffrey’s claim, it should find

the challenged procedure proper, both under our statutes and under the

Constitution.
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A. The Procedure Does Not Contravene Statutory Provisions

Jeffrey acknowledges that pursuant to Government Code §68070,
courts and judges may adopt rules and procedures for the efficient
processing of trials in their counties or courts so long as they are not
inconsistent with law or statute. (Petition at 19.) In his writ petition, the
only statutes Jeffrey claims are affected by the direct-by-declaration
provisions of Local Rule 12.5 or the TSO order are Evidence Code §772,
setting forth the order of proof, and Evidence Code §780 regarding
credibility. (Petition at 21-22.) But direct testimony by declaration, even if
it were mandatory in all circumstances (which it is not under the Rule or
TSO), does not change the order of proof. Under the rules, direct
testimony in the form of opening and responsive declarations are presented
first, subject to cross-examination at trial, followed by oral redirect or oral
rebuttal. As for credibility, Evidence Code §780 merely provides that the
court may consider various factors in assessing witness credibility and
testimony, and nowhere mentions live direct testimony. The challenged
local rule and order both permit oral cross-examination and oral rebuttal,
and do not prohibit oral redirect, thus providing the court ample
opportunities to assess credibility. And, of course, both permit a litigant to

request, or the court to order, oral direct testimony should it be necessary to

assess credibility.
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B. The Procedure Is Not Unconstitutional

Nor do the direct-by-declaration provisions of Local Rule 12.5 or of
the TSO violate due process. All that procedural due process requires is a
fair hearing. This right “includes the right to produce evidence and to
cross-examine witnesses.” (7 Witkin, Summary of California Law (10th
ed), Constitutional Law, §640, p. 1042.) The Local Rule and the TSO do
not deny the right of cross-examination but rather preserve it. And both
provide that party declarations in lieu of oral direct examination will be
received into evidence. (Local Rule 12.5(b)(3); TSO q1.) By statutory
definition, written declarations made under penalty of perjury are the
equivalent of affidavits. (Code of Civil Procedure §2004.) And Code of
Civil Procedure §2002 explicitly provides that oral examination is only one
of three equally acceptable modes of taking the testimony of a witness, the
other two being by deposition and by affidavit.

Jeffrey has cited no authority holding that there is a constitutional
right to present direct testimony by oral examination rather than by
affidavit, and Marilyn submits that there is none. Furthermore, even
assuming arguendo that Jeffrey had established a due process right to direct
by oral examination, to mount a due process challenge, Jeffrey must
establish not only that the Constitution requires live direct examination but

also that the rule and order “inevitably pose a present total and fatal conflict

with applicable constitutional prohibitions.” (Lammers v. Superior Court
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(2000) 83 Cal.App.4th 1309, 1324 (emphasis added)). Since both rule and
order permit a party to request oral direct testimony, it cannot be said that
either inevitably prohibits direct live testimony.

The thrust of Jeffrey’s argument is that the provisions for direct by
declaration denied him the opportunity to be heard. On the contrary, the
provisions gave Jeffrey the opportunity to be heard in both an opening and
a responsive declaration and in trial briefs, as well as through cross-
examination of Marilyn and of the joint expert Eggers and through his own
oral rebuttal and redirect testimony at trial. And Jeffrey also had the
opportunity to lay the foundation for his exhibits in either an opening or
responsive declaration or in trial briefs and, as further discussed post in
arguments I11(D)(2) and IV, a second opportunity to lay that foundation at
trial.

Moreover, in some respects this procedure expands the opportunity
to be heard. It provides for opening and reply declarations of any length in
lieu of live direct testimony. The amount of time allocated to a trial, on the
other hand, is frequently and permissibly limited. Here, for example,
Jeffrey participated in setting trial for only one day. The direct-by-
declaration process is intended to, and does, “provide for orderly
presentation of evidence, and . . .make efficient use of the time available for

hearing of this matter.” (AA Tab 2, TSO first sentence.)
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In addition to permitting litigants to request exemption from the
direct-by-declaration provision, both rule and order make all direct-
testimony declarations subject to cross-examination and legal objections.
Thus both rule and order comport with due process of law. In In re Adair
(9th Cir.1992) 965 F.2d 777, the court upheld a similar procedure against a
similar due process challenge. As Jeffrey’s challenge is based on the
Federal Constitution (Petition at 25), federal case law is apposite.

In Adair, a federal bankruptcy court employed a standard procedure
requiring that direct testimony be presented by written declaration subject
to oral cross-examination and redirect. ({n re Adair, supra, 965 F.2d at
779.) The U.S. District Court for the Central District of California affirmed
the bankruptcy court’s ruling after trial, rejecting appellants’ statutory and
due process challenges to the direct-by-declaration procedure (Id. at 778),
and the Ninth Circuit affirmed. The court noted that it had previously held
that the use of written testimony is an acceptable technique for shortening
bench trials and that oral cross-examination and redirect preserved the
opportunity for the judge to evaluate demeanor and credibility. (/bid.)
Specifically addressing the due process challenge, the court found that the
procedure did not raise significant due process concerns, because the
procedure ensured that the accuracy of witness statements could be tested
by cross-examination, that credibility could be initially established by

factual consistency in the declarations, and that the judge had the
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opportunity to observe witness demeanor and gauge the credibility of a
witness during oral cross-examination and redirect. (/d. at 780.) These
holdings are equally applicable here.

Jeffrey makes much of the distinction between hearings on issues
raised by motion and trials on what Jeffrey calls “the parties’ substantive
property rights.” (Petition at 21, emphasis in original deleted.) Many cases
have held that in motion proceedings, rulings may be made on declarations
without any live testimony, direct or cross. (See Reifler v. Superior Court
(1974) 39 Cal.App.3d 479, 483-484 and cases cited therein.) Jeffrey
concedes that motion hearings may properly be heard by declaration but
contends that direct examination by declaration in trials on property rights
cannot. (Petition at 23.) But this distinction is hard to justify in family law
cases. As Reifler v. Superior Court itself illustrates, family law motion
hearings can be three times the length of the trial on property issues herein
and often involve disputed factual issues that are just as important. In
Reifler, for example, several post-judgment motions were set for a single
hearing that wife estimated would consume three days and that involved
such significant issues as termination of spousal support, reduction or
increase of child support, liquidation of a partnership held in trust,
appointment of a receiver, and associated attorney’s fees and costs. (Reifler
v. Superior Court, supra 39 Cal.App.3d at 482.) Further, custody and

support rulings that are initially made in a judgment can be, and often are,
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completely changed in rulings made following hearing on post-judgment
modification motions.

In ordinary civil matters, law and motion proceedings rarely involve
disputed factual matters, while in family law the opposite is true. The court
in County of Alameda v. Moore (1995) 33 Cal.App.4th 1422, 1427, fn. 5,
recognized this difference, noting that “Unlike civil law and motion maters,
family law motions (and trial) usually involve factual issues, not issues of
law. In the family law area, most courts have adopted local rules to provide
for the expeditious handling of these cases.” While concluding in County
of Alameda v. Moore that it was error to expedite the trial by resolving
issues based solely on unsworn statements of counsel or parties, Justice
Donald B. King, writing for the court, strongly endorsed the use of
testimony by declaration in family law hearings and trials:

Family law calendars, especially district attorney child
support calendars, are so large that the system would collapse
if every motion or trial on the issue of child support required
a full-scale evidentiary hearing. To expedite matters and to
minimize conflict, we have previously approved a certain
informality in the proceedings. . . This process now utilized
by most California judges hearing these cases, enables the
judge to make decisions based upon moving and responding
papers with supporting declarations executed under penalty of
perjury, supplemented as necessary by offers of proof, and
only occasionally by oral testimony. After all, the judge who
has reviewed the declarations in advance of the hearing is the
only one who knows what additional information he or she
needs from counsel or the parties to resolve factual disputes
and issue a decision.



(County of Alameda v. Moore, supra at 33 Cal.App.4th 1427 (internal
citation and footnote omitted, emphasis added).)

Jeffrey’s contention (Petition p. 26) that it is unreasonable to expect
a judge in a complex case to read long declarations and review attached
exhibits is without merit for several reasons. First, Rule 12.5 applies only
in the average case; a complex case would presumably fall within the
“unusual circumstance” exception of Rule 12.5(b)(3) (and the TSO requires
only advance request for oral direct). Second, it is nonsensical to assume
that a judge will not read a long declaration but will listen carefully to
lengthy testimony. Third, a judge rarely has the advantage of daily
transcripts to review after a lengthy trial to check what the direct testimony
was, a limitation avoided by declarations in lieu of oral direct. Finally, the
purpose of pretrial delivery of exhibits by attaching them to declarations is
not so much to enable the judge to review the exhibits in advance as to give
the parties the time to review them and to prepare cogent objections. Such
a rule avoids the kind of trial by ambush that family law has long abhorred.

C.  The Procedure Does Not Prejudice Unrepresented Parties

Direct testimony by declaration.gives parties not represented by
counsel some distinct benefits, as it gives them two opportunities (in the
opening and response declaration) to set out and swear to all the facts the
unrepresented party considers important without interruption or objection.

Moreover, for unrepresented parties—whether, like Jeffrey, they choose to
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represent themselves although they could afford counsel, or whether they
cannot afford to hire an attorney—Ilive “direct” is awkward, since there is
no second person to pose direct questions. As a result, in such
circumstances live direct, like direct by declaration, frequently is simply a
narrative. It is difficult to see the difference between an unrepresented
party reading his direct testimony from the stand and that party providing
the same testimony in written form.

Further, the procedure also assists pro per litigants less sophisticated
than Jeffrey in their preparation for cross-examination, since they have the
direct testimony of the other spouse days before trial and are not at the
disadvantage live direct produces, where self-represented litigants are not
as adept as experienced trial counsel in meeting live testimony through
cross-examination occurring immediately following live direct. The
provision in the TSO that the declaration should include the basic
evidentiary foundation for documents to be offered as evidence at trial
alerts the unrepresented party to the need to be able to establish such
foundations in time for the party to become familiar with the rules of
evidence, or to seek assistance if needed, before the day of trial.

Finally, the procedure as embodied here in Local Rule 12.5 and the

TSO builds in the ability to request live direct testimony and also to offer

live redirect and live rebuttal testimony.



III. Jeffrey’s Challenges To The Trial Scheduling Order Are
Without Merit

A. Jeffrey Has Waived His Claims, and Lacks Standing To
Assert Them

Jeffrey never below raised a claim that the TSO was invalid because
not published as part of the local court rules, and never claimed that it
would be unconstitutional as applied to him. Therefore, he has waived his
current challenges to the TSO and this court should not consider them.
(Dimmick v. Dimmic, supra 58 Cal.2d at 422.) Further, the record
establishes that the trial court did not, in the end, hold Jeffrey to the TSO’s
requirement that Jeffrey set forth the evidentiary foundations for his
exhibits in his declaration (RT 6-10), with the result that Jeffrey was not
aggrieved by the TSO or its provisions and lacks standing to challenge it.
(Code of Civil Procedure §902.) On these grounds, this Court need not,
and should not, reach Jeffrey’s claims regarding the TSO.

B. Standards of Review

Should the Court nonetheless consider Jeffrey’s contentions, other
principles and standards of review apply. For example, because this Court
will not speculate that the lower court may have committed error, in
reviewing Jeffrey’s claims, any ambiguity in the record will be resolved in
favor of the appealed judgment. (Eisenberg, Horvitz, and Wiener, Cal.

Prac. Guide: Civil Appeals and Writs (Rutter, 2005) 98:16, p. 8-3.) Itis



Jeffrey’s burden to overcome the presumption of correctness and to
establish that the challenged judgment arose from an error of the trial judge:

A judgment or order of the lower court is presumed correct.

All intendments and presumptions are indulged to support it

on matters as to which the record is silent, and error must be

affirmatively shown. This is not only a general principle of

appellate practice but an ingredient of the constitutional

doctrine of reversible error.

(Denham v. Superior Court (1970) 2 Cal.3d 557, 564 (emphasis in
original).)

It is also Jeffrey’s burden to show that any claimed error in the TSO
was prejudicial in the sense of affecting his substantial rights and further
that a different result would have been probable absent the claimed error.
(Eisenberg, Horvitz, and Wiener, supra Cal. Prac. Guide supra at §s 8:285-
8:291, pp. 8-157- 8-159.) “There shall be no presumption that error is
prejudicial, or that injury was done if error is shown.” (Code of Civil
Procedure §475.)

Whether a claimed error is harmless or prejudicial can only be
determined on the circumstances of a given case and in light of the entire
record. (Cassim v. Allstate Ins. Co. (2004) 33 Cal.4th 780, 801-802.)
Further, an error is not prejudicial if it is cured in the trial proceedings
below. (Eisenberg, Horvitz, and Wiener, supra at Cal. Prac. Guide at

18:296, p. 8-161; Goble v. Appellate Department of Superior Court of Los

Angeles County (1933) 130 Cal.App. 737, 738-739.)

29



C. The Publication Rule of Code of Civil Procedure §575.1(c)
Does Not Apply To the Trial Scheduling Order Filed and
Served on the Parties Herein

In his writ petition (at 19), Jeffrey notes that Code of Civil Procedure
§575.1(c) permits judges to adopt rules for their courtrooms if the rules are
published as part of the general publication of rules required by the
California Rules of Court and that the “rules contained in the Trial
Scheduling Order are not published.” Jeffrey cites no case authority and
does not explain what effect should be given to the lack of publication. In
his December 28, 2005 letter brief (at 12), Jeffrey repeats these statements,
this time citing Hall v. Superior Court (2005) 133 Cal.App.4th 908, a case
in which the court held that a lower court’s rule memorialized in a memo
directed to attorneys was invalid because not published in accordance with
Code of Civil Procedure §575.1(c).

But the case order at issue herein is distinguishable from the memo
to attorneys in Hall v. Superior Court, and equally distinguishable from the
order disapproved in a case that Jeffrey cites for another point, Kalivas v.
Barry Controls Corporation (1996) 49 Cal.App.4th 1152,

In Hall v. Superior Court, the lower court applied a local policy
requiring all “Pitchess motions” to be filed and heard 30 days before trial.
The source of the policy was a memo dated almost three years earlier and
directed to attorneys from the supervising judge of the Compton courthouse

that stated that “all motions are to be calendared and heard at least 30 days
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prior to the trial date.” (Hall v. Superior Court, supra 133 Cal.App.4th at
913.) In discussing two prior writ proceedings attacking the same policy,
the appellate court quoted from a legal newspaper article in which the
spokesman from the [.os Angeles Superior Court characterized the policy
as “the local rule in Compton.” (/d. at 914, fn. 10.) So far as the opinion
discloses, the memo was not specific to any particular case, and was neither
filed nor served on the parties in Hall or in any other case.

Kalivas v. Barry Controls Corporation concerned a “courtroom local
rule” that led counsel to believe that a pending summary judgment had been
taken off calendar, causing him not to file opposition or to appear at the
motion hearing. On appeal, the court found counsel’s procedural omissions
excusable and also found that the rule conflicted with the summary
judgment statute and violated Code of Civil Procedure §575.1(c). (Kalivas
v. Barry Controls Corporation, supra 49 Cal.App.4th at 1154.) The form
of the court rule in Kalivas was a document entitled Order Re Opposed
Motion for Summary Adjudication providing, among other things, that the
parties were ordered to prepare and jointly sign a single document setting
forth specified information and stating that “the pending motions(s) is/are
ordered off calendar.” (/d. at 1155 (emphasis in original deleted).) The
“order” was stamp signed, had no date, and did not contain the number or
name of the case. (/bid.) According to one of the parties, the clerk handed

two copies of the “order” to one of the counsel; according to the other
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party, the court instructed the clerk to provide counsel with an example of

an order that would be issued to give them a “head start” on the procedures
that would be ordered. (/d. at 1155-1157.) So far as the opinion discloses,
no such order was actually made in the case.

In the present matter, in contrast, the TSO is not a memo or a generic
set of provisions untethered to a specific case that is simply provided to
counsel in identical form for every case in that court or courtroom in a
manner indicating that this is the general rule applicable to all cases in a
given court or courtroom. Rather, the TSO is an actual order issued in the
case, with the case name and number, and was filed and served on both
parties. In this case alone two different TSOs have been filed and served
on the parties, and both of these differ in significant ways from the TSO
entered in November 2005 in a different case that Jeffrey attached as
Exhibit One to his petition for review, further refuting any generic status.’
Marilyn submits that the reference in subdivision (c) of Code of Civil
Procedure §575.1 to a judge adopting “a rule which applies solely to cases
in that judge’s court” is reasonably read as meaning a rule with identical

provisions that applies without change to all cases in that judge’s court, and

2 Although the April 2005 TSO (AA Tab 2) resembles the February 2005
TSO (RA Ex. B) in many respects, it also differs from the earlier TSO in
that it contains additional provisions not present in the earlier order.
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that the April 2005 TSO does not constitute such a rule within the meaning
of that subdivision.

Further, Marilyn has been unable to discover a published decision
applying Code of Civil Procedure §575.1(c) to an order filed in a particular
case and served on the parties to that case. Nor does this case present a
compelling reason to create a rule that filed case orders served on parties
are subject to the publication procedures of this statute. As the court noted
in Simmons v. City of Pasadena (1995) 40 Cal.App.4th Supp. 1, 5, the main
purpose of the publication requirement is to insure that parties are given
notice of the rules to which they will be held.” Here, the parties were given
the best possible notice by having each TSO served on them. Indeed,
although self-represented parties are to be held to the same standards as
those represented by counsel, as a practical matter it is far more likely that
an unrepresented litigant will be aware of the terms of an order served on

him than that he will research the published local rules.

? “In summary, local rules should be developed in consultation with the
bar, and the procedures for their adoption, filing, distribution, and
maintenance should be followed. Compliance with these procedures will
ensure that local rules will be properly disseminated to the bar and public
so that they can be fully aware of the standards to which they are bring
held. Unless a court provides proper notice of its rules, it cannot expect
attorneys and the public to comply with them.” (Simmons v. City of
Pasadena, supra 40 Cal.App.4th Supp. at 5.)
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D. Any Defects in the TSO or Its Promulgation Were
Harmless Here

Even if this Court were to hold that the TSO entered in the Elkins
case in April 2005 was subject to Code of Civil Procedure §575.1(c) and
that it was in error because not published, Jeffrey cannot establish that such
error was prejudicial to him because he was fully aware of the TSO and its
provisions, and publication would have added nothing to his knowledge.

Jeffrey also claims that the court erred by holding Jeffrey to the
literal terms of the TSO regarding his trial exhibits and that this error
resulted in his default. (Petition at 27, 32; letter briefat 4.) Jeffrey’s
contention is based on a distortion of the record. The record, read resolving
ambiguities in favor of the judgment, as this Court is required to do,
establishes that the trial judge relieved Jeffrey of all of the TSO
requirements and gave Jeffrey the opportunity, at trial, to lay the necessary
foundation for his proposed exhibits but that he failed to do so.

1. Jeffrey Was Not Prejudiced By Lack of Publication
of the TSO Because He Had Full Notice Of the TSO
and Its Terms

As Jeffrey concedes in his petition (at 28) and as the record reveals,
Jefirey was well aware of the April 2005 TSO because it had been served
on him. His knowledge was also shown in his compliance with its terms
both by timely filing a declaration in lieu of direct and a trial brief, to which

he attached some exhibits, and by his delivery of the trial binder (albeit not
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in a timely manner) required by the order. Consequently, even if this Court
were to conclude that the TSO should have been published, Jeffrey cannot
establish any prejudice to him resulting from this error.
2.  Jeffrey Was Not Harmed by the TSO Requirements
Regarding Trial Exhibits Because The Court
Relieved Jeffrey of These Requirements and
Because the Provisions Were Not the Basis for the
Exclusion of His Exhibits

Jeffrey also appears to claim that the TSO was unconstitutional as
applied to him because it prevented him from putting documents not
previously attached to or explained in his declaration into evidence. But
whatever flaws might exist in the TSO procedure, and Marilyn submits
there are none, were harmless in the circumstances of this case because the
TSO provisions regarding exhibits were not applied to Jeffrey, as Marilyn
will now demonstrate. To do so, it is necessary to examine the TSO
provisions and what actually happened below in some detail.

The pertinent provisions of the TSO served on the parties and filed
on April 23, 2005 required party or witness declarations in lieu of direct
testimony to attach, explain, and give the evidentiary foundation for all
exhibits to be introduced at trial (AA Tab 2, 42); that initial declarations
with attached exhibits and trial briefs be filed and exchanged no later than
10 court days prior to trial (§3); that any responsive declarations with

attached exhibits, objections to exhibits, responsive trial briefs, and

demands for cross-examination be filed no later than 5 court days before
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trial (§4); and that at least 2 court days before trial parties exchange and
deliver to the court a binder of the exhibits they intend to offer at trial (8).

It is apparent that the evidentiary foundation to be laid in any
declaration attaching exhibits is merely the most basic identification of a
document, its source, and its relation to the case, such as Marilyn gave in
her initial and responsive declarations and as Jeffrey gave in his initial trial
brief.! For example, the first exhibit attached to Marilyn’s initial
declaration is the appraisal of the family residence. (AA Tab 4, Bates
stamp pp. 1-23.) Marilyn provides a basic foundation for this document in
her declaration by stating that it is an appraisal performed by Tom Blair and
that he appraised the value of the house at $975,000. (AA Tab 4, Marilyn’s
declaration at 92). Judge Baskin’s statements to Jeffrey regarding the
problem caused by Jeffrey’s never having mentioned or attached to pretrial
pleadings the majority of his proposed exhibits explained the basic nature
of the required foundation:

[THE COURT]: So let’s give a typical example of what I’'m

talking about with foundation, Mr. Elkins. Take a look at

your Exhibit Number 5 as an example. . . .Exhibit Number 5 .

.. is not referred to in your declaration. So there’s no way of

knowing what this document is without any testimony—

direct testimony saying what this is or what it purports to
[be].

*In his pleadings filed in connection with both the February 2005 and the
September 2005 trial, Jeffrey explained and attached his exhibits to his trial
briefs rather than his declarations. Marilyn did not object to this minor
variation on procedure in ecither trial but rather treated the exhibits attached
to trial briefs as if they had properly been attached to Jeffrey’s declaration.
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(RT 8:13-24.) Such a foundation is of course also required by the rules of
evidence. (Evidence Code §§350, 1400, 1401; 2 Witkin, California
Evidence (4th Ed), Documentary Evidence, §§2, 3, pp. 136-167 (at
minimum, documentary evidence must meet the test of relevancy and
authentication; that is, that the document is the writing the proponent
claims it to be.))

The need for such a preliminary foundation is illustrated here by the
confusion caused by the absence of such basic information for so many of
Jeffrey’s proposed exhibits. See, for example, Jeffrey’s proposed exhibits
at AA Tab 11, exhibits 2, 5,9, 14, 16, 17, 18 and 19, all of which are either
untitled documents entirely without internal identification or which give no
indication whatsoever of what they are or how and by whom they were
created (or both). Without some identification of otherwise-nonsensical
documents, it 1s impossible to determine if a given document is relevant to
an issue in the case or for the other party even to frame objections to it.
What the TSO envisions is that each party will attach all of the documents
he or she will be introducing at trial to the filed declarations, that the
declaration will identify what the document is and who prepared it as well
as its relation to the issues in the case, and that legal objections—for
example, that the document constitutes inadmissible hearsay—will be made

in written objections at least 5 court days prior to trial for documents
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attached to the initial declarations, or orally at trial for documents attached
to responsive declarations.

On September 2, 2005, Jeffrey filed a four-paragraph opening
declaration and a trial brief. (AA Tabs 9 and 10.) This was timely under
the TSO because filed 10 court days before the September 19 trial, and
indicates that Jeffrey was aware of, and was following, the terms of the
TSO. As he had for the date-of-separation trial, Jeffrey attached his
exhibits to his trial brief rather than to his declaration. He attached three
exhibits: an August 1998 letter from himself to himself regarding
compensation for managing the litigation facing the company he had
founded (called CalTech); a memo memorializing the parties’ mediated
custody agreement; and a letter from Marilyn’s counsel memorializing the
parties’ agreements regarding child support, spousal support, and division
of Marilyn’s pension. (AA Tab9.) Also on September 2, 2005, Marilyn
filed a 27-paragraph, 9-page declaration to which she attached 14 exhibits,
all of which were identified in the declaration. (AA Tab 4.) Marilyn’s trial
brief elaborated on the factual points made in her declaration. (AA Tab 5.)

In the date-of-separation proceedings, just six months earlier, Jeffrey
had forcefully responded to Marilyn’s opening declaration and trial brief on
that issue with a trial brief rebutting Marilyn’s point by point and attaching
several exhibits, including three responsive declarations. (RA Ex. D.) In

the September 2005 property proceedings, for reasons which he never
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explained, Jeffrey filed nothing in response to Marilyn’s opening pleadings,
leaving her factual and legal assertions unrebutted and her exhibits
unopposed. Marilyn timely filed a brief responsive declaration to rebut
Jeffrey’s short opening declaration and attached two rebuttal exhibits.

Marilyn provided Jeffrey with a binder of her trial exhibits, all of
which she previously attached to her declarations, on Thursday September
15, two court days before the Monday trial, but Jeffrey did not provide her
with his binder until Friday afternoon, September 16, just one-half court
day before trial. (RT 3:12-4:10, 12:17-13:1.) Although untimely, this
conduct of Jeffrey’s evidenced his knowledge of the TSO terms, including
his understanding that trial exhibits were to be provided to opposing
counsel in binders prior to trial. Jeffrey’s binder contained, with one
exception, documents that had not been attached to Jeffrey’s previously
filed declaration or trial brief. (RT 3:14-16.)

At the outset of the property trial, Marilyn objected to all but two of
Jeffrey’s proposed trial exhibits, on the grounds that they were not in his
declaration, that is, that the declaration did not attach or set forth the
evidentiary foundation for these exhibits. (RT 3:12-16, 6:1 1—8:9.)5 In

considering Marilyn’s objection, the court began by looking at the TSO

> The record is confusing as to just how many exhibits were in Jeffrey’s
binder at trial. Marilyn’s counsel indicated there were 37 exhibits, 36 of
which had not been attached to Jeffrey’s declaration. (RT 3:12-16.) In his
writ petition Jeffrey puts the number of exhibits at 36. (Petition at 2.)
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requirement that the evidentiary foundation for exhibits must be provided in
the declaration submitted in lieu of direct testimony. (RT 6:11-7:7.) Itis
not surprising that the court did so, as neither party had ever objected to the
terms of the TSO and as both parties had complied with similar provisions
in the TSO that had issued just a few months earlier for the trial on the
bifurcated issue of date of separation.

Jeffrey claimed that he was just going by the rules from that earlier
trial, when he claimed the parties “did nothing but present exhibits such as
trial book until the day of trial.” (RT 6:17-21.) This was not credible,

“because in the earlier trial Jeffrey had in fact attached his trial exhibits to
his pretrial pleadings and had timely delivered his exhibits binder prior to
trial (Answer ante at {12(d)-12(h)), and for the pending trial, as we have
seen, Jeffrey had attached exhibits to his trial brief, and had delivered,
however untimely, his binder of exhibits prior to trial, all of which
evidenced his understanding that exhibits were required to be presented and

explained prior to trial.

There are 37 subtabs in AA Tab 11, but no document appears following
subtab 37. What is clear is that Marilyn did not object to Jeffrey’s exhibit
3 and exhibit 12. Both were admitted at trial not only because Marilyn did
not object to them but because Jeffrey’s exhibit 3 was also attached to
Marilyn’s declaration (as Exhibit H, see AA Tab 4), and the expert report
that was Jeffrey’s exhibit 12 was in evidence pursuant to Contra Costa

Local Rule 12.6(e)(1), and were admitted at Marilyn’s request. (RT 13:26-
14:10.)
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Ultimately, Jeffrey’s claimed misunderstanding and his lack of
compliance with all of the TSO provisions did not matter, because the trial
court did not hold Jeffrey to these provisions. The court did not even
consider applying the TSO requirement that documents to be offered at trial
be attached to declarations filed 10 court days before trial, or the
requirement that binders of exhibits be delivered to counsel and court two
court days before trial. Instead, the court focused solely on the problem
created by Jeffrey’s failure to mention all but one of the new documents in
his trial pleadings such that “there’s no way of knowing what this document
is. . . or what it purports to [be].” (RT 8:21-24.)

Rather than strictly enforce this provision of the TSO against Jeffrey,
however, the court only preliminarily ruled that Marilyn’s objections
regarding lack of basic foundation would be sustained. The court then
immediately invited Jeffrey to cure this defect by giving the evidentiary
foundation for each document orally at trial:

THE COURT: .. .I’ve reviewed your declaration.

Tentatively, I am going to rule in favor of [Marilyn’s

attorney|. I’m going to allow you at one of the breaks. . . fo

rethink your argument and give me the specific evidentiary

Soundations for these documents, but I don’t see it in your
declaration. . . the objections will be sustained tentatively

subject to further argument after the morning break.

(RT at 9:25-10:3, 10:21-22, emphasis added.)

Jeffrey did not act on the court’s invitation by providing a basic

foundation for his exhibits, either through argument, or offer of proof, or by
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requesting the opportunity to take the stand to do so in brief direct self-
examination. Instead, prior to the break, when the court queried Jeffrey as
to whether he had questions for Marilyn on the issue of dissolving the
status of marriage, Jeffrey answered by abruptly resting his entire case.
(RT at 14:11-17.)

Thus, Jeffrey’s exhibits were excluded not through application of the

TSO, but rather because Jeffrey first failed at trial to establish any

evidentiary foundation for his exhibits although explicitly given the
opportunity to do so, and then rested his case. Consequently, any errors
that this Court might find to exist in the issuance or terms of the TSO were
harmless here. (Lammers v. Superior Court, supra, 83 Cal.App.4th lat
1329-1330).

IV.  The Court Properly Excluded Jeffrey’s Exhibits for Which He
Laid No Foundation At Trial

Marilyn objected to 34 of Jeffrey’s proffered exhibits because he had
not provided any foundation for them. (RT 8:7-9.) Because the court
relieved Jeffrey of the TSO requirements and instead permitted him to
establish the foundations at trial, Jeffrey was in precisely the same position
he would have been in had Rule 12.5 and the TSO not existed. That is, he
was required under statutory rules of evidence to lay the proper foundation
for his documentary evidence at trial. In effect, the court gave Jeffrey two

opportunities to make the necessary showing—first, to lay the foundation in
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his declaration, and second, to lay the foundation at trial. He failed to do
either. His real complaint, then, is not about the TSO’s procedure for
laying a foundation, as this was excused, but what he feels is the unfairness
of having to come up with the necessary evidentiary foundations for his

exhibits on the day of trial. (See Jeffrey’s December 28, 2005 letter brief at

8, where Jeffrey says, “How a self-represented party is supposed to be able
to provide the Court with ‘specific evidentiary foundations’ for exhibits in
the hallway during a break is not explained.”) This complaint has no
merit.

Only evidence that is relevant is admissible. (Evidence Code §350.)
And a writing is required to be authenticated before it may be received into
evidence. (Evidence Code §§1400, 1401.) Where, as here, an objection to
documentary evidence has been made for a lack of these basic evidentiary
foundations, the burden is on the proponent of the documentary evidence to
establish its relevance to an issue in the action and its authenticity. (2
Witkin, supra, Documentary Evidence at §§2, 3, pp. 136-167.) Obviously,
the proponent must meet this burden no later than the day of trial when he
offers the documents as evidence. Jeffrey failed to meet this burden.
Accordingly, the court did not err in excluding the 34 exhibits to which
Marilyn had objected, and Jeffrey’s request that this Court set aside the

judgment on this ground must be rejected. (Evidence Code §354.)
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Because Jeffrey failed to make the necessary showing, and then
abruptly rested his case, the court never had the opportunity to reach the
other objections that Marilyn had reserved. (RT 8:9-12.) Jeffrey’s
assertion, however, that most of his proposed documentary evidence was
“obviously admissible on its face” (Petition at 21) is simply not true. At
least 12 proffered exhibits —the documents appearing in AA Tab 11 as
exhibits 1, 10, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 23, 26, 27, 34, and 35—were inadmissible
as hearsay statements of third parties not present at trial. Another 7—
exhibits 24, 25, 28, 29, 30, 31, and 33—were pleadings from lawsuits
involving the company Jeffrey had founded. These could be considered by
the court only if Jeffrey timely and properly asked the court to take judicial
notice of them. (Evidence Code §§452, 453.)° The excerpts from
Marilyn’s deposition—exhibits 8 and 9—were not admissible because
Marilyn was not an unavailable witness. (Evidence Code §1291.)

The remaining exhibits might or might not have been admissible, but
in any case Jeffrey has not shown that their exclusion was prejudicial.

Most were of limited relevance on minor or undisputed issues, such as the

emails between the parties (AA Tab 11 exhibits 4, 6, and 7) and what

6 Though inadmissible as evidence, many of the first group of exhibits
could have been used in Jeffrey’s cross-examination of Michael Eggers,
which was apparently Jeffrey’s intent. (Petition at 32.) The lawsuit
pleadings were of limited relevance since the existence of the lawsuits was
undisputed and since they were discussed at length in Eggers’ report, which
was in evidence. (AA Tab 11 exhibit 12.)
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appear to be Marilyn’s early spreadsheets (AA Tab 11 exhibits 2 and 9)
which appears in final form in Marilyn’s exhibit G (AA Tab 4).

V. The Court Did Not Deny Jeffrey a Fair Trial But Rather Gave
Him Every Opportunity To Present His Case

Jeffrey’s contention that he was denied a fair trial in other respects
because of what Jeffrey claims was the court’s literal imposition of the
court rule and order is similarly flawed. For example, Jeffrey claims that
Marilyn’s decision not to cross-examine him resulted in a trial where he
never took the stand. But this result flowed from Jeffrey’s conduct and not
the challenged rules.

First, Jeffrey chose to file a very brief declaration that by his own
admission addressed only a couple of the issues, and chose not to file any
responsive declarations, so that Marilyn simply felt no need for cross-
examination. (RT 4:19-21.) Then, when Marilyn indicated that she would
not be questioning him (RT 4:19-25), Jeffrey simply failed to request the
opportunity to present oral testimony under the TSO or under the “unusual
circumstances” and “proper rebuttal” exemptions of Rule 12.5(b)(3).
Jeffrey could have, but did not, request brief oral direct to give the court the
opportunity to assess his credibility on the stand on the grounds that his not
being cross-examined and therefore not presenting any live testimony
constituted unusual circumstances. Or Jeffrey could have, but did not, take

the stand to offer live rebuttal to Marilyn’s declarations. The court’s



willingness to offer Jeffrey the opportunity to establish the foundation of
documents orally at trial indicates that the court would have reacted
favorably had Jeffrey requested brief oral direct. In any event, this Court
cannot presume that the trial court would have denied Jeffrey’s requests.

Similarly, the “default judgment” about which Jeffrey complains
does not exist, and the resulting judgment was most certainly not a
“sanction” for Jeffrey’s failure to abide by the TSO. Rather, as we have
seen, Jeffrey was excused from the TSO requirements regarding exhibits.
The judgment resulted from Jeffrey’s failure to lay the basic foundation for
his exhibits, though given the opportunity to do so, and Jeffrey’s decisions
regarding the rest of his evidence.

These decisions started with Jeffrey interposing no objection when
Marilyn offered her declarations and exhibits into evidence (RT 13:26-
14:7), followed by Jeffrey resting his case “on everything” prior‘ to the
break. (RT 14:16-17). Then, when the court invited Jeffrey to cross-
examine Marilyn, Jeffrey spontaneously rescinded his earlier request to do
so (RT 14:28-15:4), thus depriving himself of the opportunity to have her
lay the foundation for exhibits (like Tab 11 exhibits 2, 4, 6, 7, 9) that
apparently were created by her or in which she participated, or to use these
exhibits or Marilyn’s deposition statements (Tab 11 exhibits 8 and 11) to
impeach her declaration statements (if they do) or to impeach statements

she might have made on cross-examination.
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When the court next queried whether it understood Jeffrey’s
rescission correctly, Jeffrey also withdrew his request to cross-examine the
joint expert, Michael Eggers (RT at 15:17-23), thus depriving himself of
the opportunity to use the seven documents he identifies for this purpose in
his petition (at 32); though most were inadmissible, they could have been
used to cross-examine the expert. At this point, when the court offered
Jeffrey the opportunity to present his case, Jeffrey again rested, and then
rebuffed the court’s invitation to admit his declaration into evidence. (RT
16:2-19.)

When Jeffrey next disavowed a stipulation he had entered only that
morning with Marilyn’s counsel and took a dramatically different position
on the disposition of the family residence (RT 17:8-20:6), the court urged

Jeffrey to get legal advice (“I would, again, recommend, as I have always

recommended to you, to get legal advice™) and took the matter under

submission rather than make an immediate ruling in reliance on Jeffrey’s
unexpected position changes or on Marilyn’s proposed order after trial.
(RT 20:7-27, emphasis added.) The court invited Jeffrey to take the week
and either settle the issues or ask the court to rule on the proposed orders,
thus giving Jeffrey another opportunity to lay the foundation for his
exhibits and request their admission or to seek other relief prior to the court

deciding the case. Once again, Jeffrey did not avail himself of this
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opportunity. The court did not err in rendering judgment on the only
evidence it had.

Although Jeftrey appears to acknowledge that unrepresented parties
are not entitled to special treatment (see Jeffrey’s petition for review at 27
and his letter brief at 2), he also seems to feel that this rule is unfair, as
illustrated by his surprise that as an unrepresented party he needed to be
able to lay evidentiary foundations and to know the rules of evidence when
challenged at trial. But as this Court correctly noted in Rappleyea v.
Campbell (1994) 8 Cal.4th 975, 979, “Procedural law cannot cast a
sympathetic eye on the unprepared, or it will soon fragment into a
kaleidoscope of shifting rules.” In addressing the defendants’ therein “ill-
advised self-representation,” this Court went on to say:

Except when a particular rule provides otherwise, the rules of

civil procedure must apply equally to parties represented by

counsel and those who forgo attorney representation. . . A

doctrine generally requiring or permitting exceptional

treatment of parties who represent themselves would lead to a

quagmire in the trial courts, and would be unfair to the other

parties in the litigation.
(Id. at 984-985.) This sentiment applies with special force to a self-
represented party like Jeffrey, who could well afford counsel but chooses to
represent himself. "[A] lay person, who is not indigent, and who exercises
the privilege of trying his own case must expect and receive the same

treatment as if represented by an attorney—no different, no better, no

worse." (Taylor v. Bell (1971) 21 Cal.App.3d 1002, 1009.)
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VI.  Conclusion

For all of the foregoing reasons, Jeffrey’s petition for writ of
mandate should be denied and the judgment below should be affirmed.
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